THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002414

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF  
JOHNNY GARRETT, Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

TOMMY A. THOMAS  
SC Bar: 5536  
P.O. Box 88  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 732-5507  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Other Counsel of Record:

Deborah R.J. Shupe, Esq.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED  
DEC 23 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

**Did the trial court err in not granting the Appellant's Motion for Mistrial based upon burden shifting comments of the State?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

That on or about July 28, 2004, the Appellant was arrested and charged with Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor less than 11 years old, in the 1<sup>st</sup> Degree. This charge was later nol prossed and The Appellant was Directly Indicted for Committing a Lewd Act on a Child, under the age of 16. On February 7, 2005, the Appellant plead guilty under North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162, 1970 U.S. and was sentenced to nine (9) years. After maxing out this sentence, he was transferred to the Spartanburg County Detention Center pending a commitment proceeding pursuant to the South Carolina Sexual Violent Predator Act, §44-48-110 et. seq. South Carolina Code of Laws. On January 26, 2010, the Appellant was committed to the Department of Mental Health under the Sexually Violent Predator Act. The Appellant has remained in this program since that time.

The Appellant Petitioned the Court for a review hearing and release in 2012. This Petition for Release was without the approval of the South Carolina Department of Mental Health. An Annual Review hearing was held before The Honorable Roger L. Couch on July 31, 2013. Pursuant to this hearing, the Court found and concluded that based upon the Expert testimony presented, that the Appellant was entitled to a trial on the issue of whether or not his mental abnormality had changed so that he was safe to be released at large and was not likely to commit acts of sexual violence. An Order of the Court was filed on October 2, 2013 granting this relief.

The Respondent requested a Jury Trial in this matter, pursuant to §44-48-110 South Carolina Code of Laws on October 15, 2013. This matter was tried before a Jury on October 6-7, 2014. The Jury returned a verdict finding that the Appellant's

abnormality or personality disorder remained such, that he was not safe to be released from the Sexually Violent Predator Unit.

Motions for Judgement notwithstanding the Verdict and a New Trial were timely filed. On October 28, 2014, the Court issued an Order denying the Appellant's Motions. The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. was the presiding Judge. This Appeal follows:

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter was tried before a Jury on October 6-7, 2014. This Trial was before The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. At trial, Marie E. Gehle, Psy.d., was qualified as an Expert in the fields of psychology and forensic psychology without objection. (Tra. p. 25) Dr. Gehle testified that she was currently employed as a Chief Psychologist at the Department of Mental Health (Tra. p. 22) and that her duties entailed evaluations pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act. That she performed pre-commitment evaluations to, determining whether or not people meet the criteria to be committed and that she also performs annual review evaluations. (Tra. p. 23) Dr. Gehle testified that she had completed three annual review evaluations of the Appellant. (Tra. p. 27, Line 16-23) Dr. Gehle testified that she had reviewed all of the documents in this case regarding the Appellant. (Tra. p. 28)

Dr. Gehle testified that Mr. Garrett was serving time for Lewd Act upon a Minor Child (Tra. p. 33) That the Appellant had originally been indicted for Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor in the 1<sup>st</sup> Degree and that pursuant to a Direct Indictment, this was changed to a Lewd Act upon a Minor. Dr. Gehle testified to both the facts and circumstances surrounding the 2004 charge as well as prior sexual offenses for which the Appellant was not convicted. (Tra. pp. 37-39) She discussed prior psychological evaluations of the Appellant (Tra. p. 40) and other non-sexual related crimes. (Tra. pp. 46-48) Dr. Gehle diagnosed the Appellant with pedophilia and a personality disorder. (Tra. p. 52)

In discussing the Appellant's major assignments in the sex offender treatment program, Dr. Gehle testified that the Appellant was lacking detail. That he lacked honesty and lacked insight of how he was thinking or feeling. (Tra. p. 62, Line 1-3)

Dr. Gehle was further questioned by the State and asked "if he was released by this Jury, what is your information that you have gotten from him or from other sources about his plans and where he was going to live?" (Tra. p. 62, Line 4-7) Dr. Gehle replied "That she believed he was planning to live with family members and that he had indicated that he planned to spend more time with his kids and grandchildren." (Tra. p. 62, Line 8-14) Very shortly after this statement, Dr. Gehle was again asked "Who would be at risk if the Jury releases Mr. Garrett?" (Tra. p. 68) Dr. Gehle replied "pre-pubescent girls and his family." (Tra. p. 68, Line 16-18)

Objection was made by counsel for the Appellant. (Tra. p. 69) A Motion was made for a mistrial. This Motion was based on counsel's belief that the comment made by the State "if the Jury lets this man go" is a burden shifting comment. (Tra. p. 79) Argument was made that these comments shift the burden to the Appellant to prove that he should be released, when in fact the burden is on the State to show that the Appellant's mental abnormality or personality defect remains such that he cannot safely be released at large and if released is likely to commit acts of sexual violence. (Tra. p. 70) The Court denied the Motion for Mistrial. (Tra. p. 71)

The Appellant's Expert Witness, Dr. Selman Watson, testified that he had an opportunity to evaluate the Appellant. (Tra. p. 189) That he performed a battery of psychological testing. (Tra. pg. 189) He reviewed the Appellant's past. (Tra. p. 190) That he also reviewed police records, affidavit's victim statements and any source that

could shed light on the case. (Tra. p. 190) He further reviewed the report of Dr. Gehle, the Static-99 and spoke with Dr. Bill Burke regarding the PPG. (Tra. p. 190) Dr. Watson testified that the Appellant has a diagnosis of a personality disorder and pedophilia. (Tra. p. 198) However, based upon his evaluation, Dr. Watson stated that he believed that the Appellant's mental abnormality or personality disorder had so changed that he is now safe to be at large. And that if released he is not likely to engage in acts of sexual violence. (Tra. p. 202)

## ARGUMENT

### **Did the trial court err in not granting the Appellant's Motion for Mistrial based upon burden shifting comments of the State?**

Question: "Who would be at risk if this Jury releases Mr. Garrett?"

Answer: "Prepubescent girls in his vicinity." (Tra. p. 68)

Question: "If he is released by this Jury...where is he going to live?"

Answer: "He plans to live with family members" (Tra. p. 62)

Question: "Does he plan to spend more time with kids and grandchildren?"

Answer: Yes (Tra. p. 62)

Generally, the decision to grant or deny a Mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court: State v. Stanley 365 S.C. 24, 615 SE2d 455 (2005). The Court's discretion will not be overturned on Appeal, absence of abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. It is in the power of the Court to declare a mistrial. It should be used with the greatest of caution under urgent circumstances and for very plain and obvious causes stated in the record by the trial court. State v. Goodwin 384 S.C. 588, 638 SE2d 500 (2009). The Defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice. The question is whether the State's comment so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the Jury's decision a denial of due process. Goodwin

The Appellant would submit that a commitment pursuant to the Sexual Violent Predator Act is a Quasi criminal proceeding. In this case, due process both procedural and substantive should be afforded to the Petitioner. In the case at hand, the State, on two occasions, asked if the Jury "was to release the Petitioner". The Response by Dr. Gehle was that he was likely to commit another sexually violent crime and that he planned to spend more time with children.

The Appellant has the burden to show that the Court erred and that this error prejudiced the Appellant. The consequence of an individual being continually committed to the Sexually Violent Predator program is very great. The individual is maintained in a secure environment 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. His personal freedom and liberties are severely restricted. This is very prejudicial if that individual can be safely maintained outside an inpatient program.

A civil commitment is a difficult topic for the Jury to understand. It has the elements of both a civil and criminal trial. The comments made by the State only served to heighten the confusion regarding the burden of proof in determining the necessity for an individual to be retained in the program.

In civil issues, it is the Plaintiff who must prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence. In this case, the burden is on the State to prove that the Appellant's condition had not changed and that a mental abnormality or personality defect has not changed such that he is not safe to be released at large and is likely to commit acts of sexual violence. The Appellant is akin to the Plaintiff in a civil trial, yet it is the State, or the Defendant who carries the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Appellant would submit that the comments made by the State and the witnesses answers, complicates the Jury's decision process to the point that the Appellant was prejudiced. Our courts have long held that burden shifting presumptions are unconstitutional. State v. Peterson, 287 SC 244, 335 SE2d 800 (1985); State v. Neva, 305 SC 450, 388 SE2d 791 (1990). Generally this happens in the context of the Courts instruction to the Jury. A burden shifting presumption or conclusive presumption

deprives a Defendant of the due process of law. State v. Belcher 385 SC 597, 685 SE2d 802 (2009)

In this case, the burden shifting is in the body of the State's case, the questioning and answers given by the State and its Expert witness.

An analogy can be made to case law regarding burden shifting comments made in the State's closing argument. The Court in State v. Goodwin 384 SC 588, 683 SE2d 500 (2009) did not find that the State's argument arose to burden shifting, but it does give us the criteria for such a burden shifting comment. The Court says that the comment must present urgent circumstances for a mistrial. The comment must be so grievous that the prejudicial effect could not be removed in any other way and that the comment so infected the trial with unfairness as to result in a denial of due process.