ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Spartanburg County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002414

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2015

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
JOHNNY GARRETT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Spartanburg County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002414

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial because the State's questions to the testifying expert about who would be in danger "if the jury releases him," did not dilute or shift the State's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant's mental abnormality and personality disorder remained such he was not safe to be at large.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 26, 2010, Appellant Johnny Ray Garrett was committed to the SC Department of Mental Health's Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program (SVPTP) after a jury found beyond a reasonable doubt he had a mental abnormality or personality disorder that made him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence if not confined for long term control, care and treatment. Pursuant to statute, Appellant's mental status was reviewed in 2011, and the Department of Mental Health did not recommend his release from the SVPTP.

Appellant obtained an independent evaluation by Selman Watson, Ph.D, who opined Appellant's mental status had so changed he was safe to be at large. After a probable cause hearing, the circuit court granted Appellant's request for a release trial. (Order Granting Release Trial filed October 2, 2013; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 259). The matter was called for a jury trial on October 6, 2014, before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge.

The State presented testimony from Marie E. Gehle, Psy.D., who performed Appellant's annual review as part of her duties with the Department of Mental Health, and was qualified as an expert in psychology and forensic psychology. Dr. Gehle testified she had performed three annual reviews of Appellant's mental status since his commitment, including a 2012 review in which Appellant declined to participate. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 22-29; R., pp. 22-29).

As part of the annual review process, Dr. Gehle reviewed Appellant's legal records, treatment records and behavior notes from the SVPTP, and other tests and evaluations performed by other professionals, including a 2013 penile plethysmograph

(PPG). She also reviewed the underlying circumstances of Appellant's criminal history, including criminal conduct of a sexual nature for which he was not convicted, in order to substantiate his mental diagnoses and evaluate his risk to reoffend if released. (TT, pp. 30-51; R., pp. (30-51).

Dr. Gehle diagnosed Appellant with pedophilia (attracted to females, non-exclusive), personality disorder not otherwise specified, and polysubstance dependence. She testified he minimized his responsibility for his crimes in spite of his treatment, and had several behavior infractions at the SVPTP, including a March 2014 write-up for possessing sexually explicit materials, which are expressly prohibited there. (TT, pp. 51-62; R., pp. (51-62).

The State asked Dr. Gehle about Appellant's plans "if he's released by this jury." She testified, without objection, that he planned to live with family members and spend more time with his children and grandchildren, which was problematic in light of his pedophilia. (TT, pp. 62-63; R., pp. 62-63).

Dr. Gehle also testified about Appellant's risk factors for reoffending, which included his history of substance abuse, his difficulty with honesty, his pedophilia and personality disorder, his very poor boundaries, his history of non-sexual offenses, and his offending sexually while on probation. She opined to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant's pedophilia and personality disorder still affected his volitional and emotional capacity to control his behavior, which put him at risk to re-offend if released from the SVPTP, and he needed to remain confined for additional treatment. (TT, pp. 63-68; R., pp. 63-68).

The State then asked Dr. Gehle who would be at risk “if the jury releases [Appellant].” She testified, without objection, that prepubescent girls in his vicinity would be at risk. (TT, p. 68; R., p. 68).

After the State completed Dr. Gehle’s direct examination, Appellant moved for a mistrial on the grounds the references to the jury releasing him were burden shifting comments, making him show he should be released. The circuit court denied the motion, finding the questions did not shift the burden of proof because the jury would have two mutually exclusive options, and the probable and natural consequence of a verdict finding the State had not met its burden of proof “is in fact [Appellant] being released or discharged from the [SVPTP].” (TT, pp. 70-71; R., pp. 70-71).

Appellant presented testimony from Dr. Selman Watson, who was qualified as an expert in psychology, and opined Appellant had progressed in treatment such that he was safe to be at large. (TT, pp. 186-202; R., pp. 186-202). On cross-examination, however, Dr. Watson testified he diagnosed Appellant with pedophilia and anti-social personality disorder, and if released, Appellant needed to continue in outpatient sex offender treatment and be polygraphed every six months, neither of which he could be forced to do. (TT, pp. 203-213; R., pp. 203-213).

In closing arguments, both the State and Appellant acknowledged the State’s burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. (TT, pp. 223, 231, 237; R., pp. 223, 231, 237). The circuit court then repeatedly charged the jury the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant’s mental abnormality or personality disorder remained such that he was not safe to be at large, and properly defined beyond a reasonable doubt. (TT, pp. 244-248; R., pp. 244-248). The verdict form expressly

required to jury to answer the question “[h]as the [State] proven beyond a reasonable doubt that [Appellant’s] mental abnormality or personality disorder remains such that he’s not safe to be at large and if released is likely to commit acts of sexual violence.” (TT, p. 248-249; R., pp. 248-249).

The jury determined the State had proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt, and the circuit court ordered that he remain in confinement with the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. (Order of Continued Commitment filed October 7, 2014; R., p. 261). The court subsequently denied Appellant’s motion for a new trial. (Motion for JNOV and a New Trial, dated October 17, 2014, Order Denying Motion for New Trial, filed October 31, 2014; R., pp. 262, 267). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial because the State's questions to the testifying expert about who would be in danger "if the jury releases him," did not dilute or shift the State's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant's mental abnormality and personality disorder remained such he was not safe to be at large.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial after the State asked Dr. Gehle where Appellant planned to live if the jury released him from the SVPTP, arguing the reference to "the jury" shifted the burden of proof from the State because it complicated the jury's decision process. This contention ignores the reality of the jury trial process.

A. Preservation

As a threshold matter, the mistrial issue is not preserved for appellate review. In order to preserve an issue for review, the party must make a contemporaneous objection, and cannot later bootstrap the issue with a mistrial motion. See State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 174-75, 478 S.E.2d 260, 270 (1996) (issue regarding purported improper testimony not preserved because the defendant did not make a contemporaneous objection, but waited until the close of direct testimony); State v. Moultrie, 316 S.C. 547, 451 S.E.2d 34, 39 (Ct.App.1994) (failure to contemporaneously object to introduction of evidence "cannot later be bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial.").

Appellant did not contemporaneously object when the State asked Dr. Gehle who would be at risk if the jury released him. Rather, he waited until Dr. Gehle's direct testimony was concluded, well after the question and her response, and then moved for a mistrial. If the question and response were improper, and as discussed below, the State

submits they were not improper, the circuit court could have addressed the issue immediately with a timely objection, and Appellant cannot bootstrap the issue with an untimely mistrial motion.

B. Merits

Even if preserved, Appellant's argument is meritless. The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the judge's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. Vestry & Church Wardens of Church of Holy Cross v. Orkin Exterminating Co., 384 S.C. 441, 682 S.E.2d 489, 492 (2009); State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 530 S.E.2d 626 (2000); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003). "The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes" stated into the record by the trial judge. Thompson at 82 (*quoting* State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 [1977]). A mistrial should only be granted when "absolutely necessary," and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial. *Id.* "The less than lucid test is therefore declared to be whether the mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice." *Id.* (*quoting* State v. Prince, 279 S.C. 30, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 [1983]); *see also* State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 683 S.E.2d 500 (2009) (same).

In this case, the State acknowledged in its opening statement the State had the burden of proving its case beyond a reasonable doubt, and stated Appellant was "petitioning you to let him out of this treatment center." (TT, p. 13; R., p. 13). In his opening statement, Appellant's counsel also stated the issue before the jury was whether

Appellant was “safe to be released,” and “ready to be released.” (TT, pp. 19-21; R., pp. 19-21). The burden of proof and whether Appellant was safe to be at large were also discussed by both parties during closing argument, with Appellant specifically recounting witness testimony about supporting Appellant “if the jury decides that he’s ready to be released.” (TT, pp. 221-237; R., pp. 221-237).

Finally, the circuit court instructed the jury the trial was “to determine whether [Appellant] should remain civilly committed” in the SVPTP and appropriately charged the State’s burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. The verdict form stated the question to be decided by the jury was: “Has the Respondent State of South Carolina proven beyond a reasonable doubt that [Appellant’s] mental abnormality or personality disorder remains such that he’s not safe to be at large and **if released** is likely to commit acts of sexual violence.” (TT, pp. 238-249; R., pp. 238-249) (emphasis added).

Thus, the jury was well aware the State had the burden of proof, which was beyond a reasonable doubt, and knew its verdict would determine whether Appellant remained in, or was released from, the SVPTP. Given the repeated references to the State’s burden of proof and Appellant’s release from confinement, Appellant simply cannot show any prejudice from the State’s question to Dr. Gehle about who would be at risk if Appellant was released, which did not shift the burden of proof in any way, and certainly did not warrant a mistrial. Accordingly, the circuit court properly denied Appellant’s mistrial motion.